NPS Form 10-900
(382

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections

OMB No.
Expires

1024-0018
10~-31-87

For NPS use only

received ’ AU G

date enteréd EP

- § 1988
211988

N

1. Name

historic N/A

and-or common Multiple Resources of Menomonee Falls

(Partial Inventory:Historic & Architect-

2. Location

Ural PTOpertics)

street & number see Individual Intensive Survey Forms

N/A not for publication

city, town Menomonee Falls N/A vicinity of

state Wisconsin code 55 (WI) county Waukesha code 133
3. Classification

Category Ownership Status Present Use

X _district ___ public _X_ occupied ___ agriculture —___ museum

_X_ building(s) ___ private _X_ unoccupied 2 commercial X _ park
_X_structure _X_ both _X_ work in progress —X__ educational _X__ private residence
___site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment —X_religious

— object - in process _X__yes: restricted —X— government —_ scientific
Multiple —__ being considered _X__ yes: unrestricted —__ industrial _X_ transportation
R eaOi e N/4 —_'no ___ military ___other:

4. Owner of Property

name Multiple ownership (see individual intensive survey forms)

street & number N/A

city, town N/A —_ vicinity of state N/A

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Waukesha County Courthouse

street & number 515 West Moreland Boulevard

city, town Waukesha state Wisconsin
6. Representation in Existing Surveys

titleWisconstn Inventory of Historic Flaces has this property been determined eligible? ___ yes X no
date 1979. 1984. 1985 —. _federal _X_state __ county ___ local

depository for survey records State Historical Society of Wisconsin

clty, town Madison

state

Wisconsin 53706




7. Description

Condition ‘ Check one Check one

X excellent ___deteriorated _X_ unaltered _X__ original site
_X_good ____ruins _X_ altered ___moved  date
_X_ fair —___ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

General Physical Description

Occupying the northeast corner of Waukesha County, the Village of Menomonee Falls is
presently comprised of 32 gquare miles, encompassing almost the entire Town of Menomonee,
Located in the area of glacial drift, its character is determined to a great degree by
the underlying limestone rock formation. Elevated in the center of the town, the land
slopes to the east and northeast toward the Menomonee River and its tributaries, and
slopes toward the Fox River in the west. Iimestone ledges crop out at various places

in the town, once the site of a substantial quarrying industry. The name Menomonee

was inspired by the large group of Menomonee and a few Chippewa Indians who camped in
the Tamarack Swamp and were encountered by the early settlers.

The settlement of Menomonee Falls, the commercial center of the Town of Menomonee,

was organized in 1892 when the Village of Menomonee Falls was incorporated as a munici~
pality, independent from the surrounding Town of Menomonee. In 1958 the Village annexed
the entire Town of Menomonee except the previously incorporated Villages of Lannon and
Butler. This annexation formed the present municipality in which the historic resources
included in the Menomonee Falls Multiple Resource Nomination are located.

Historical Settlement and Development of Menomonee Falls

Farly settlement within Menomonee Township, which was established by the state legis—
lature in 1839, 1 occurred at three distinct locationsg ~~ Lannon Springs, Fussville, and
Menomonee Falls. Although the federal government did not open the land for settlement
until 1839, Irish, Yankee, German, and Pennsylvania German immigrants began occupying
the land soon after the 1836 land surveye.<

Irish immigrants settled the crossroad settlement of Lannon Springs by 1842. By the

18508, the settlement contained a post office, store, hotel, and Ste James Church, con-
structed in 1848 at W220 N6588 Towm Line Road (WK 95/31).3 Johann Henry Fuss and other
German immigrents of the Trier and Cologne regions of Germany founded Fussville in the
mid-1840s., This settlement at the intersection of the present Appleton Avenue and Good
Hope Road included several businesses, crafts, residences and Ste. Anthony's Catholic
Church, erected in 1867 at N74 W1360/ Appleton Avenue (WK 95/23)e A late-1960s road widen-
ing project and the construction of the North Hills Country Club (WK 95/22) at N73 W13430
Appleton Avenue in 1930 destroyed much of Fussvillee.4

Garret Vliet, a speculator in land and lumber, established & sawmill at the third
settlement, Menomonee Falls, at the current mill pond dam, in 1838. During the 1839
land sales, he purchased a 640 acre tract which included much of present-day Menomonee
Falls., Vliet erected a second mill in 1842.5

The years between 1838 and the mid-1840s, which marked the arrival of more permanent
settlement in Menomonee Falls, were characterized by much speculation but little settle~
ment or economic development.é The village's physical advantages —-- location on a major,
early thoroughfare, the Fond du Lac Road, adjacent farmlands, potential water power, and
limestone -- remained egsentially undeveloped until the 1850s.
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Buying much of Vliet's original land purchase, the Frederick Nehs family, with relatives
and neighbors from Bucks County, Pennsylvania, established a core settlement at Menomonee
Falls in 1844e This migration from Bucks County to Wisconsin lasted into the 1860s. The
Pennsylvania~born composed 25 percent of the village population by 1860 This group
eventually provided the essential stability, leadership, and capital to establish a
successful small trade and manufacturing community at the intersection of Fond du Lac
Road and the falls of the Menomonee Rivers/ A major turning point in the Village's
development was the construction of Jesse Nehs custom grist mill in 1851, The mill
attracted area farmers which in turn provided a nucleus around which businessmen and
craftsmen coalesceds The Nehs mill served a five to ten mile radiuse. In 1850 Nehs plat-
ted the original settlement of Menomonee Falls, the emerging trade center which eclipsed
Lannon Springs and Fussville, into fifty lots at its crossroads, Waukesha Road or Main
Street and Fond du Lac Avenue or Appleton Avenue, This crossroads configuration forms

a distinctive settlement form unlike the grid iron or rectangular pattern of most Wis—
consin villages and citiess During the 1850s and 1860s, Water Street developed as a
residential area removed from the more commercially-oriented intersection at the Four
Coznerg. Thusy Menomonee Falls emerged rapidly as a distinct village in the 1850s and
18608,

During the 1860s and 1870s, the growing trade center continued to attract businesses,
craftsmen, and small industries to its crossroadse. There were about 40 businesses by
1860 and at least half of these were operated by German immigrants. The Pennsylvania
German influence waned, and a few Yankees filled investment and professional roles. By
1880, Menomonee Falls emerged from a local milling and trade center to a regionally
important, small manufacturing center.?

With the arrival of the railroad in 1890 and Village incorporation by 1892, Menomonee
Falls began a rapid physical expansion which lasted for two decades. It included
industrial and business, as well as residential, growth. Much of the commercial devel-
opment occurred adjacent to the original trade center at the Four Corners and also near
the depot on north Water Street, In 1860, Jesge Nehs accommodated the regidential expan-
sion by platting his farm, located at the center of the village, into the first subdi=
vision of the original village. Along Grant, Grand, and Cleveland Avenues on the east
side of the Menomonee River, this area contained the homes of the more well-to-do
business and professional men of Menomonee Falls, Comstructed in 1899, the Roogeveltd
Drive Bridege (WK 92/32) joined the residential and business district.16

Paralleling this.economic growth, turn of the century residential expansion continued
with the platting of the 1892 I.Be. Rowell Addition between Roosevelt Drive, Grand Avenue,
Pershing Avenue and Appleton Avenue. After 1900, residential expansion occurred east of
the Menomonee River, where residential subdivisions were platted by Pratt and Stark,

JeBe Whittaker, and otherss. The platting of Park Boulevard and its cross streets, Patton
and Harrison Avenuesy followed in 1905, This area, along with Kenwood Boulevard which
was platted in 1929, gained recognition as a more exclusive Menomonee Falls neighborhood
in the 1920s and 1930s.11 |
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The construction of Highway 15 through Menomonee Falls in 1919 brought considerable
automobile traffic to the Village, Then the longest highway in the state, the concrete
highway connected the Wisconsin~Illinois border with Green Bay by 1922, A number of
automobile and tourist-related services and businesses serving a more mobile population
appeared along Appleton Avenue and Main Street, an expansion of the original business
district.1? Residential growth also continueds The construction of public buildings
such as the Lincoln School (WK 92/28) at N88W6913 Main Street in 1920 and the Menomonee
Fells Municipal Building (WK 94/14) at N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue in 1929 to 1930 indicate
the growing need to provide a higher level of social services as the population .expanded.
The gbate!s first Federal Housing Authority-approved subdivision, Hiawatha Heights, added
thirty-six homes in 1937 A second 1930s federal program supported by the Works Progress
Administration resulted in the development and landscaping of the Garfield Drive Village
Parke The 1938 limestone Village Park Bandstand (WK 94/17) served as a focal pointe 13

Menomonee Falls, then, experienced three periods of concentrated growths The 1850s
into the 1870s were characterized by a steady rise in population and physical expansion
as a milling and trade centers By 1880, Menomonee Falls emerged as a small regional
manufacturing and commercial center, With the arrival of rail transportation by 1890,
the Village experienced rapid physical, industrial, and commercial expansione. Several
larger industries served an extra-~local market., A smaller scale business expansion,
particularly automobile~related services, and increased social services following the
construction of Highway 15, characterized the last period of the 19R0se.

In the intervening years since the 1920s, the community of Menomonee Falls has undergone
considerable alterations The historic commercial area generally located around the
intersection of Main Street and Appleton Avenue (originally Fond du Lac Avenue) and east
on Main Street to the Water Street intersection (see district survey forms for the Main
Street Historic District) remains as the center of the original Village of Menomonee
Fallse In addition, much of the higstoric neighborhood surrounding the Main Street
commercial district has survived except for some substantial residential structures,
particularly on Appleton Avenue that have been lost to new construction. The indus-
trial area originally located on the banks of the Menomonee River has moved to various
outlying areas of the Village.

In the northeast sector, a Village-owned industrial park is located on land formerly
used for agricultural purposese. Additional private industrial parks generally occupying
former agricultural land include the Northwest Industrial Park, Nor-X-Way Park, Silver
Spring Industrial Heights and Bowling Green Industrial Parke

The greatest alteration of the general land use pattern is the reuse of agricultural
land for residential usee Many historic farms owned by early setblers, such as the
Johann Zimmer farm (WK 95/3) on Pilgrim Road and the Cyrus Davis farm (WK 95/17) on
Lannon Road, have been divided into parcels for residences and the outbuildings have
been demolished. Beginning in the late 1940s, Menomonee Falls experienced rapid
development, residential sprawl, and tremendous population growth fueled by Milwaukee's
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post-war flight to the suburbs. The Village was transformed from a small commercial hub
gserving an agricultural community to a bedroom community in the Milwaukee metropolitan
areas This transformation is reflected in the staggering population growth experienced
between 1950 and 1970 when the population of the Village area jumped from 4,683 to 31,697
residents by 1980, v

In the descriptive statements which follow, as well as in the statement of significance,
specific sites are indicated by their historic (preferred) name, their current street
address and by map codes If the site is already in the National Register of Historic
Places, the dove information is not given, but the code "NRHP" is provided along with
the year of listinge The map codes indicate the general locality of the site on the
Menomonee Falls City Engineer's mape :

Architectural Resources

The historic architecture of the Village of Menomonee Fallg reflects the mid-19th to

the early 20th century development of a community whose economic base depended on a
combined agricultural, commercial and small industrial constituency. Among the many
factors shaping the built environment of Menomonee Falls were the areals early agriculture
and milling based economy, its proximity to Milwaukee, the ethnic and religious diversity
of its 19th~century population, access to local limestone for building and the produc~—
tion of lime mortar, and the relatively late arrival of rall service.

These factors affected the ways in which national architectural styles were applied
locally, creating a unique townscapes. Although the bulldings of Menomonee Falls show a
definite functional and utilitarian tendency, prevalent national architectural styles
influence the character of many of the historic buildingse The majority of the structures
built in the 19th century in Menomonee Falls are the work of unknown local carpenters

and masons using standard plans, while the more substantial buildings in the early 20th
century were designed by area architectse

The most notable builder/architect working in Menomonee Falls in the 19th century was
Adam Ploss, a Bavarian=-born carpenter, who probably built the Coates and Ostrander Store
at N88 W16672 Main Street (WK 94/20) in the mid-1860s and a residence and shop for
himself at N88 W16475 Main Street (WK 92/10) in 1879. Architect Charles C. Anderson
from nearby Waukesha obtained the commission to design the Fraser Block at N83 W16723-25
Appleton Avenue (WK 91/35) in 1901, More often, architects from the nearby metropolis
of Milwaukee were commissioned to work in Menomonee Fallse These Milwaukee architects
include Erhard Brielmaier, who designed St. Mary's Church at N89 W16297 Cleveland Avenue
(WK 94/9) in 1905, and Hugo Ce. Haeuser, who designed the City Hall at N88 W16631 Apple~
ton Avenue (WK 94/14) in 1930, Milwaukee architects also designed the very few historic
houses known to be the work of professional architects in Menomonee Falls, Logemann

and Barkhausen created the Mediterranean design for the Leroy Henze house at N89 W15791
Main Street (WK 93/22) in 1924, while Matthew He Berres designed the Herbert Hoeltz
house at N87 W15714 Kenwood Boulevard (WK 94/2) in a French Eclectic manner in 1932,
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Although many of the architectural resources in Menomonee Falls are built without dis-
tinctive architectural details using vernacular forms, the architecture in the Village
also is reflective of the broad array of architectural styles in the late 19th and

early 20th centurye. The most notable axchitecture in Menomonee Falls was constructed of
local limestone in the mid=19th century. Coinciding with the first period of post
settlement growth and expansion, the Greek Revival style influenced the earliest signifi-
cant examples of extant architecture in the town. Readily constructed of local lime-
stone taken from quarries often conveniently located on the property or near the bullding
site, Greek Revival influenced farm houses in the area were built for the most part prior
to 1865, Characterized by simple ornaments such as cornice returns, pediments and
classical frontispieces, the simple forms of the style are visually dominated by the
rough texture of the coursed cub-limestone. The earliest known extant stone farm house,
the 1855 Cyrus Davis farmhouse at WR04 N7776 Lannon Road (WK 95/17) was constructed in
the street-facing gable or temple-front form with an added one-gstory ell, Other stone
farmhouses such as the Friederich farmhouse at N96 W15009 County Line Road (WK 95/4),

‘the Johann Zimmer farmhouse at W156 N9390 Pilgrim Road (WK 95/3), and the Thomas Camp
farmhouse at W204 N8151 Lannon Road (WK 95/14) are characterized by a central entrance
into the long side of the house generally five~bays wide, Some have half-windows placed
directly beneath the cornice, Three of the stone Greek Rvival styled stone farmhouses
built between the late 1850s and the early 1860s exhibit a distinctive construction
methods The Friederich house at N96 W15009 County Line Road (WK 95/4), the Zimmer house
at W156 N9390 Pilgrim Road (WK 95/3), and the Miller-Davidson house at N96 W15791 County
Line Road (NRHP, 1973) are constructed on arched foundations of stone., Wooden interpre-
tations of the Greek Revival style such as the late 1850s Hoos~Rowell house at

W164 N8953 Water Street (WK 92/19) and the Barnes house at N89 W16840 Appleton Avenue

(WK 91/6), also built in the late 1850s, are important historical resources in Menomonee
Fallse

Local stone also was used to construct the few representatives in Menomonee Falls of
the more decorative styles of the Vicltorian era, In the mid-19th century as the Greek
Revival style was glving way to the irregular, picturesque forms of the later 19th
century- Gothic and Romanesque styles, Ste James Church at WR220 N6588 Main Street

(WK 95/31) was built in a simplified Gothic Revival style, Built in 1848 (Romanesque
tower added in 1885), the church was constructed of stone taken from a nearby quarry
by its Irish immigrant parishioners. The mogt impressive architectural resource in the
Village of Menomonee Falls, Ste Anthony!s Catholic Church at N74 W13604 Appleton Avenue
was erected of local stone in the Romanesque Revival style, the alternate style of the
period, in 1867 in the center of the Germen community known as Fussville,

The last substantial architectural resource constructed in the 19th century of local
stone is the Enterprise Roller Mill, located at N88 W16447 Main Street (WK 92/15) on
the east bank of the Menomonee River, Bullt in 1891 of blocks of limestone taken from
the Harmon Stone Quarry, the Enterprise Mills gains its architectural character from
its massive utilitarian form, almost completely devoid of historlc ornamente The
only industrial structure of architectural merit remaining in the Village of Menomonee
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Falls, the Enterprise Mill is included in the Main Street Historic Districts Also
congtructed at the end of the 19th century in 1899, the Roosevelt Drive Bridge (WK 92/32),
a double arch span of coursed limestone across the Menomonee River, is the last remain-
ing stone bridge in the Village of Menomonee TFallse

The Italianate style was another alternative style fashionable in mid=-19th
century America, which exerted influence on the historic resources of Menomonee Falls,
The Italianate style in ‘the Village of Menomonee Falls was employed for the most part
for commercial structures constructed of creme brick veneers ILocated in the Main Street
Historic District, the Coates and Ostrander Store at N88 W16672 Main Street (WK 94/20)
‘congtructed in the late 1860s, and the Adam Ploss Shop and Residence at N88 W16495

Main Street (WK 92/9) typical of the style in Menomonee Falls, exhibit the low-pitched
hipped roof with wide eaves and the arched windows of the style, but few of the elabor-
ate details usually found in the style. Typical of the Italianate influence on farm-
houses in the area, the creme brick house, built by Michael Wick ce 1879 at N72 W13449
Good Hope Foad (WK 96/18) and restored in 1974yis a large gabled ell vernacular farmhouse
dressed up with Italianate details such as elaborate window heads and round arched doors
and window openingse

Many of Menomonee Falls! architectural resources were bullt during its second period of

development between 1890 and 1910, This second period of growth was initially stime

ulated by the arrival of the railroad in 1890 and the incorporation of the Village of

Menomonee Falls in 1892, Because of the coincidence of its popularity with the second

boom period of Menomonee Falls! development, the influence of the Queen Anne style

is readily apparent in the historic residential and commercial bulldings of the Village.

In a vernacular interpretation of the elaborately ornamented picturesque style, the

Garwin Mace house at W166 118941 Grand Avenue (WK 91/25) was built in 1893 of the "best

materials! avallable, ILimited to an irregularly massed frame form and ornamented by

brackets, varied patterned wood shingle and small panels of stained glass, the Mace

house is slightly more elaborate than the two remaining vernacular frame examples of -

the stylee The Elizabeth Hoos house at W164 N9010-12 Water Street (WK 92/26) was built

in 1892 and depends primarily on ‘the varied patterned wood shingles in the gable ends

for ornament, while the 1893 Albert Baer house at W166 N8990 Grand Avenue (WK 91/17)

is a Queen Anne style cottage with an exceptional elaborately ormamented projecting

front gable, While frame construction predominated, a brick example -exhiblting Gothic
features. was built for MeFe Lepper at N88 W16596 Main Street (WK 94/36)e Constructed

in 1886, this cross gabled structure features a foundation of multicolored granite blocks,

protruding brick window hoods with stone keystones, gable ornaments and stained glasse

Commercial structures built during this period in Menomonee Falls also incorporated
Queen Anne style elements in their design. The varied wooden shingles corner tower
associated with the Queen Anne design can be found on the 1892 Menomonee Hotel at

N88 W16697 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/21), and the sculptured gable end found in ‘the
commercial examples of the style are still visible on the Klondike Saloon, now altered
by theaddition of modern siding, built in 1897 at N8 W16567 Main Street (WK 92/2).



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

The Historic Resources of Menomonee Falls,
Continuation sheet  aukesha County, Wiscongin !temnumber 7 Page ¢

The best preserved commercial example of the Queen Anne influence in the Main
Street Historic District, the Stark-Hoyt Building at N88 W16733 Appleton Avemue (WK 91/34)
was built in 1904, featuring three-bay windows projecting over the double storefronte

At the same time that the Queen Anne . — style was the mgjor stylistic influence,
other prevalent revival styles had a lesser effect on the structures built during the
second period of development in Menomonee Falls, ' The . Romanesque Revival,

a style preferred by bullders of commercial structures in the late 19th century, affected
the designs of the Obermann~Weber Block atN89 W16370 Main Street (WK 93/6) in 1872 as
well as the later Fraser Building built in 1901 at N88 W16723-25 Appleton Avenue (WK 91/35).
The Fraser Building, characterized by the large round arches and corbeled ornament
associated with the style, underwent considerable alteration as early as 1927 Both
structures are located in the Main Street Historic District. The Romanesque Revival
style also influenced the design of Ste Mary's Church at N89 W16297 Cleveland Avenue

(WK 94/9) built in 1904 in responge to the increagse in population occurring as a result
of the second period of expansion between 1890 and 1910 in Menomonee Fallse The south
end of Ste Mary's was substantially enlarged in 1951-1953, although the main part of

the structure has been preserved.

Although a return to the simplicity and more rigid form of classical architecture
affected architecture in America at the turn of the century, very little evidence of
the Colonial or the Neo~classical Revival styles can be found in the commercial, public,
or residential structures built during the corresponding period in Menomonee Fallse. The
John Pratt house built in 1903 at N88 W15634 Park Boulevard (WK 93/25) is by far the
most elaborate of the turn of the century examples of the classical based Colonial
Revivael in the Village. Although recently covered by narrow gauge siding, the visual
design integrity has been maintained and the stylistic details preserved. The only
commercial structure built during this period showing definite classical influence is
the Mace Block at N88 W16672 Main Street (WK 94/19)e Built in 1909, the Mace Block
exhibits very simplified classical elements such as plain cornice and simple applied
brick pilagters.

Many of the structures bullt in Menomonee Falls during the second period of develop~
ment between 1890 and 1910 were built of wood in the vernacular form, Simple gable
roofs and minimal historic ornament characterize buildings in the Main Street Historic
District such as the I.B, Pwell Company warchouse at N88 W16444 Main Street (WK 92/12),
Dre Rieger's residence and office at N88 W16749 Main Street (WK 94/24), and the Nehf
Buildings at N88 W16551 Main Street (WK 92/4) and at N88 W16557-59 Main Street (WK 92/3).

A noticeable increase in the construction of substantial buildings also occurred in

the third period of development in the 1920s and early 1930s. Initiated by the con-
struction of the state Highway 15 between 1919 and 1922, the building boom resulted in
structures relating to the use of the automobiles During this period, all the commer-
cial buildings were influenced by the early modern stylese The 1920 Auto Sales
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Company Buick Garage at N88 W16414 Main Street (WK 92/13), the 1920 Hille Building at
N88 W16712 Appleton Avenue (WK 91/33), and the 1921 Hans Mueller Cafe at N88 W16718
Appleton Avenue, all located in the Main Street Historic District, although not elab-
orate examples of this syle, do show the influence of the geometric ornament charac-
teristic of the Chicago School sad the Prairie School architectural manner,

Concurrent and contrasting with the early modern style apparent in the commercial
buildings, period Revival styles dominated the residential architecture in Menomonee
Fallse Concentrated in the new housing developments east of the commercial area and
of the Menomonee River, these houses represent styles ranging from the Mediterranean
Revival to the more unusual French Eclectic style. Designed in the Mediterranean style
by Logemann and Barkhausen of Milwaukee in 1924, the Leroy A,Henze house at N89 W15781
Main Street (WK 93/22) has been preserved with its attending tennis court, classical
influenced pergola and spacious lawn. The Henze house is clearly the most elaborate
residential example of the style in the Village, Another example of a period revival
style built in the same neighborhood, the Herbert Hoeltze house at N&7 W15714 Kenwood
Boulevard (WK 94/2) was constructed in 1932 of Lannon stone with a blue slate roof in
a French Eclectic styles The house was degigned by Matthew He Berres of Milwaukee.

Many small contractor-built houses influenced by the English Tudor Revival style also
characterize this east side neighborhoods However, the finegt example of English
Tudor Revival architecture igs the Menomonee Falls Golf Club at N73 W13430 Appleton
Avenue (WK 95/22), built on the site of the John Fuss farme Designed in 1929 by
Richard He. Bierman of Milwaukee to suggest an English country house, the structure
has received several additions on the west and north sides,

City Hall at N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/14) and Lincoln School are the only
historic public or civic buildings remaining in Menomonee Falls that have not been
demolished or seriously altereds The Village of Menomonee Falls opted to have their
nunicipal building designed by Milwaukee architect Hugo C. Hauser in the Spanish
Colonial/Mediterranean Revival style rather than in the symbolical Neo~classical or
Beaux Arts style generally used for public buildings during this periode Completed in
1930, the Municipal Building, located at N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/14) is a
two=~story brick building featuring a hexagonal bell tower with red tile roofing and
bas-relief cartouche. The two-story, brick Lincoln School at N88 W16913 Main Street
(WK 94/28) designed in 1920 by Walter Tuckwell, exhibits the influence of the inlaid
geometric designs associated with the Chicago School and Prairie School architecture
prevalent during the period.

Park and open spaces are consplcuous features of Menomonee Falls! physical environ-
ment, which is dominated by residential neighborhoods. The Village zoning ordinance
slates 40 percent of the community's 33 square miles for single family residential
uses Of the 9,000 dwellings in Menomonee Falls, more than 80 percent are single
family housese An additional 40 percent of the community's land has been set aside
for agriculture, park and conservatory use, Included in the park system is the 0ld
Falls Village Museum, a collection of historic buildings moved to the Miller-Davidson
hougse site at N96 W15791 County Line Road (NRHP, 1973)e :
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Survey Methodology

The Menomonee Falls Historic Resources project began with an update of an existing
1975 reconnalssance survey in 1984 by Allen Johnson, a graduate student in Cornell
University'!s Historic Preservation Planning programe The survey was sponsored in

full by the Village of Menomonee Falls, with training sessions provided by the State
Historical Society of Wisconsine The survey area was divided into two regions: the
first area comprised the original Village of Menomonee Falls, and the remainder of the
32 square mile municipality formed in 1958 in the Town of Menomonee, except the pre-
viously incorporated towms of Lannon and Butler, comprised the second area. Streets
in the Village were canvassed to both field check sites surveyed in the earlier survey
and to add sites to the previous list of higtoric propertiess An additional criterion
for inclusion was for sites located in commercial strips or high density development
areasy le6s, the original Village area around the Main Street commercial district.

In Menomonee Falls, approximately 225 sites were documented in this preliminary inven-—
torys Because only general historical research accompanied the 1984 survey, architec—
turally significant sites predominated, The Historic Preservation Divigion staff assisted
Johnson in meking a preliminary determination of potential National Register-eligible
properties.

The reconnaissance survey provided a broad base of information on the nature and condition
of Menomonee Falls! buildingss The second phase, the Intensive Survey of Menomonee Falls,
was conducted during the period between January and July of 1986 by architectural
historian, Joan Rausch, and historian, Betty Kilsdonke. During this phase of the survey,
in~depth historical and awrchitectural research provided information which aided in
documenting and evaluating the significant historic structurese. Intended to supplement
the 198/ reconnaissance survey, higtorical themes relevant to Menomonee Falls were
resesrched and summarized and the site specific research was extended on important
historical and architectural sitese. These thematic studies included agriculture,
commerce, education, government, historic Native Americans, industry, planning and
landscape architecture, religion, settlement, social and political movements, and trans-
portations As a result of the research, additional properties and districts deter—

mined to be architecturally and higtorically significant were identified in the

intensive survey. In addition, the sites identified in the 1984 reconnalssance survey
were evaluated again for their historical and architectural significances From the

map of sites identified in the reconnaissance survey, obvious groupings of sites

were examined for possible district designations.

Finally, using National Register criteria, the most significant properties and districts
were identified for inclusion in a multiple resource nomination to the National Register
of Historic Placess The staff of the Historic Preservation Division of the State
Historical Society was consulted during this processe The tyo historic districts
include the Friederich Farmstead Histeric District, - and the Main Street

Higtoric Districte Outside of the districts, 23 individual sites (this does not

include the two gites already listed on the NRHP) were nominated for their historical

or architectural distinction. The multiple resource nomination and the intensive survey
forms were_ prepared by the principal investigator and project architectural historian,

Joan Rausch, and by Joyce McKay, an historical archaeologist. Intensive gurvey forms
for indlvidﬁal propertzes and gistrict survey forms foll%t. Y
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Archaeological Resources

Although no known prehistoric- archaeological sites are recorded within the Village
limits of Menomonee Falls, no comprehensive archaeological investigations have sur-
veyed the area. Charles Brown noted in 1923 the location of a burial site of the
1870s within the Village limits,?

Several sites have been reported within Menomonee BHwnship and adjacent Brown Deer
Township in Milwaukee Countye. Brown recorded the Fussville, Hyland, Rochel, and Wild
Marsh campsites in sections 24, 36, 25, and 21-22-27-28 of Menomonee Township respec—
tively. He related the latter to the Menomonee and Chippewa Indians.? A 1975 survey
confirmed the location of the Hyland Site (WK 27) on high ground near the Menomonee
River. The 1975 survey attributed no cultural affiliation to the site. The same
survey also located the Motorcross Site (WK 336) also in section 36. It identified
the Middle Woodland cormer-notched projectile point from the workshop/campsite.3 In
section 28 of Brown Deer Township, two campsites and four isolated find spots have
been located, primarily by 1979 and 1981 surveys conducted by the University of Wis-
congin at Milwaukee. These sites also lack definite cultural affiliations.

At least one potential but unsurveyed historical archaeological site exists within
the Village limits. Remains of the Nehs lime kiln site, located in Lime Kiln Park
in front of the Mace Lime Kilns (WK 92/5), are still visible, Frederick Nehs con-
structed the three hillside kilns prior to 1845 to fulfill local construction needs.
These kilns probably provided the mortar for construction of early limestone dwell-
ings associated with the Pennsylvania German settlement in the area. Although the
kilns remained in the Nehs family until 1890, their production level and length of
operation remains unclear.> The kiln site was incorporated into Lime Kiln Park,
created in 1960 by the Village of Menomonee Falls, and was designated as part of the
Waukesha County National Register Thematic Group in 1982. Historical archaeological
investigation of the early kiln sites might potentially contribute data about the
construction and operation of these typical, early lime kiln sites.® Such investi-
gations would dso complement available data about the site which is closely tied to
the early economic development of the Village, Although several other potential indus-
trial sites related to milling, the Wisconsin Sugar Company, and the I.Be. Pwell and
Company Agricultural Works may exist within the Village, the congstruction of later
buildings has probably destroyed their remains. However, this assumption remains
unverified,

Because of the Village's location adjacent to the Menomonee River and similar site
locations nearby, the potential of the presence of prehistoric sites clearly exists
but remains unverified, One historical archaeological site has been located but its
potential research value remains untested, Other industrial sites may exist, but
the extent of destruction by later building has not been investigated.

Since no_intensive study of extant historic or prehistoric archeological sites was
undertaken as part of this survey, this nomination does not reflect potential archeo-
logical sites.
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8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

___ prehistoric _ ___archeology-prehistoric . X_ community planning ___ landscape architecture.____ religion

____1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic ... conservation  ____ law ____science

___1500-1599 X __ agriculture -——. €conomics ——.— literature —— sculpture

___1600-1699 X __ architecture ' X __ education ____ military ___ social/

___1700-1799 ___art ..—.. engineering ——_ music humanitarian

_X_1800-1899 _X__ commerce X exploration/settlement ____ philosophy — theater

X __ 1900~ ____ communications X __industry _X_ politics/government  _____ transportation
——— invention — other (specify)

Period of significance:
Specific dates 1451 - 1933 Builder/Architect (See survey forms)
Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) Nomination includes use of criteria A,B & C.

Introduction

Occupying the northeast corner of Waukesha County of the banks of the Menomonee River,
the Village of Menomonee Falls, incorporated as a municipality independent from the
Town of Menomonee in 1892, had been the commercial center of this area, providing ser—
vices for the agricultural and small industrial community. Located in the area of
glacial drift, its early architecture ag well as its topography was influenced by the
underlying llmestone rock formatlon.‘ The proposed Menomonee Falls Multiple Resource
Nomination is composed of two National Register Districts —one farmstead. and a
commercial district; twenty-threelnd1v1dually significant sites; and a district and
a gite previously nomlnated to the National Registere. The nomination gains local
historical significance as a visual representation of the entrepreneurial, residential,
and civic development of the Village dating from the earliest years of its settlement
to the 1930s.

Three stages of development characterized the growth exhibited by these properties.

The first occurred between 1851 and the 1880s when Menomonee Falls emerged as a locally
important trading and milling center. Historically significant themes relating directly
to nominated properties include commerce, agriculture, industry, and settlement and
exploration. . The second stage between 1890 and 1910 was one of
rapid commercial and industrial expansion following the arrival of the railroad by

1890 and stimulating extensive residential development. Applicable historical themes
in this period include commerce, industry, -and architecture.

Between the late 1920s and early 1940s the final stage followed the
development of a major automobile thoroughfare through Menomonee Falls. The Village's
commercial and residential areas, as well as its social services, expanded to meet
the needs of a more mobile society. Pertinent historical themes include commerce,
planning and landscape arthitecture, local government, and education,

The Menomonee Falls Multiple Resource nomination thus preserves physicsl representations
of each period but, not surprisingly, emphasizes the period of most rapid economic and
physical expansion between 1890 and 1910, Architectural significance ig also cited

for a majority of the individual sites, which furnlsh a full representation of the styles
existing in the Village.

Historical Development

Of the three distinct communities -~ Lannon Springs, Fussville, and Menomonee Falls ~-
established in the Dun of Menomonee in the late 1830s and early 18/0s, Menomonee Falls
superceded the others as a milling and trading center beginning in the 1850s, Little
remains of the two other settlements except for two churches, St. James Catholic Church
(WK 95/31) erected in 1848 in Lannon Springs at W220 N6588 Town Line Road, and Ste
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Anthony's Catholic Church (WK 95/23) built in 1867 in Fussville at N74 W13604 Appleton
Avenue, around which the communities coalesceds! Ste James still retains its original
architectural character.

Page i

Garret Vliet purchased a 640 acre tract in 1839 during initial government land salese
This tract included the Village of Menomonee Falls. Developing his tract as a land
speculator by exploiting the land's wealth through the sale of lumber, ilet egtab-
lished two gaw mills in 1838 and 1842 at the current mill pond and dame,* Vliet sold
much of his tract to Frederick Nehs, a Pennsylvania German from Bucks County who arrived
in 1844

Nehs headed a small migration of about a dozen families, members of the Evangelical
Association of North America, from Bucks, Lehigh, and Montgomery Counties in Pennsyl=
vaniae Minimal evidence suggests that their migration had been encouraged by the
Association's bishop. While their congregation was established in 1846 in Menomonee
Falls, the Emmanuel Evangellcal Church was not erected at the site of the present
structure at N9O W16937 Appleton Avenue until 1861. Immigrating until about 1860,
this colony eventually developed the crossroads settlement at the intersection of
Fond du Lac Road (Appleton Avenue) and Waukesha Road (Main Street) known as the Four
Cornerse Nehs! son Jegse platted more than 50 lots in the nucleus of the Village atb
the Four Cormers and along Water Street in 185043

Although begun in 1844, the settlement did not expand greatly until the erection of a
grigt mill by Jesse Nehsg in 1851 (the first period of development from 18571 to the
1880s)e The four-story Nehs Mill, whoge dam and millpond still survive, primarily
custom-ground wheat, then southeast Wisconsin's main cash crop, for farmers within a

radius of about 5 to 10 milese. Nehs also sold some of the resulting flour to external
narketse4

This grisgt mill formed a pivotal point around which the commercial district of the
Village grew in the 1850se The settlement initially expanded linearly along the two
crossroadse. The mill'!s patronage in turn attracted craftsmen and businessmen to the
village, ensuring its steady growth through the 1870s, By 1860, craftsmen, businessmen,
and professionals numbered over forty individualse.

While at least half of the craftsmen were Germans, Yankees controlled the community!'s
financial growth, filling positions of merchants, proprietors, and profegsionals.
The influence of the Pennsylvania Germang had begun to wane.

In 1853 Mahlon Berringer erected the first commercial structure at the Four Corners, a
general merchandise store. The Van Vechten Block (WK 94/20) at N88 W16677 Main Street
remaing from this periode In 1866 Coates and Ostrander established a mercantile store
in the buildinge. The building operated as a general merchandise store under numerous
owners until 194147
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The craftsmen operating after mid-century increasingly experienced growing competi-
tion from specialized businesses carrying ready-made goodse. For this reason, these
craftsmen did not survive the twentieth centurye. Two remaining structures represent
these community craftsmen: the Hoenig and Lohn Clothing Store (WK 92/10) built in

1876 at N88 W16475 Main Street and the Adem Ploss Residence and Shop (WK 92/10) erected
in 1879 at N88 W16475 Main Streete. In business by 1857, the former survived somewhat
longer because they produced ready-made as well as custom-made clothinge Ploss was
engaged in a trade in high demand during periods of physical expansion. He diversified
his talents, engaging in cabinet making, carpeniry, and building design from 185645

Menomonee Falls also possessed several industries in the 1850s and 1860s, some of which
expanded their output by the 1880s and 1890s. Of the grist milling, woodworking, coop-
erage, agricultural implement manufacturing, and lime processing industries, three
surviveds Increasingly better transportation, growing markets, and available sources
of capital assisted this growth.9 The central manufacturing establishment in this
period between the 1850's and the 1880s, the Jesse Nehs grist mill remained the main
milling operation until 1890, Refurbished by Max Lepper and Simon Schlafer after its
sale in 1883, the mill survived into the twentieth century as a custom mille It closed
in 1921, Only the dam andmill pond have survived. !0

Established by Ira and Gifford Rowell and Anson Bradley, the Menomonee Falls Agricul-
tural Works, later the I.Bs Rowell aud Company Agricultural Works (WK 92/12), at

N88 W16444 Main Street became a major manufacturer of plows and cultivatorse The
company moved to Waukesha in 1912 and only the 1891 warehouse survives,!l

Begun by 1845, tge Nehs lime kilns, serving only local needs, remain as ruins in
lime Kiln Park.'® The Waukesha Stone Company, of which Cyrus Davis, represented by
the Cyrus Davis Farmhouse (WK 95/18) at W204 N7776 Lannon Road, yas a partner, quar-
ried and processed limestone in the area between 1856 and 18’71.1

Between 1851 and the 1880s, Menomonee Falls served a comparatively small residential
area, initially occupying Water Street and outlying farmse 14 The Henry Hoos house
(WK 92/19), ereﬁfed between 1856 and 1858 at W164 N8953 Water Street, - remains
as an example. 15 - S ‘ ' S

Eight farmhouses, three with some farm bulldings intact, represent the surrounding
agricultural community of this periode They brought their wheat to the Nehs mill

and utilized the services of the surrounding trade center, From gettlement into the
1870s, these farmers principally raised wheat as a cash crop as well as subsidiary
cropse In general, the Yankee and English farmers began to shift to dairying and
sheep raising in the 1860s and 1870s. Those of German extraction also modified their
farm profile in the 1870s, but often maintained their wheat production as wells
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The representative farmhouses include: +the Nicholas Friederich Farmstead (WK 95/4)
built prior to 1859 at N96 W15009 Counbty Iine Road; ‘the'Thomas GCamp Farmhouse
EWK 95/14) built abaut 1851 at WR204 N8151 Lannon Road; the Johann Zimmer Farmhouse
WK 95/3) erected in 1865 at N156 W9390 Pilgrim Road; the Cyrus and Edgar Bavis
Farmhouses (WK 95/18) (WK 95/16) built in 1853 to 1856 and c. 1868 at W204 N7776 Lan-
non Road and W204 N7818 Lannon Road; the Andrew Barnes Farmhouse (WK 91/6) built in
1858 to 1859 at N89 W16840 Appleton Avenue; the Michael Wick Farmhouse (WK 96/18)
erected in 1879 at N72 W13449 Good Hope Road; and the Miller-Davidson House built in
1853 at N96 W15791 County Line Road (WK 95/10).! :

 Between 1857 and the 1880s, Menomonee Falls developed around the Nehs Mill as a trading
and milling center serving outlying farms. It continued to attract businessmen, crafts-
men and professionals reaching forty individuals by 1860417

The arrival of the Menomonee Fallg and WesternPReilroad in 1890 inaugurated a twenty-
year period of rapid physical and economic expansione During these two decades, Men-
omonee Fallsg grew from a local trading center to a small manufacturing and commercial
center with regional marketse The incorporation of the community in 1892 provided
organized support for this expansion. The buginess district remained centered at the
Four Corners, but also expanded to North Water Street adjacent to the railroad depot
and east Main Street. Industrial development, improved transportation, residential
growth, and the formal organization of the village supported the rapid commercial
expanslons

Menomonee Falls! industrial base developed primarily through the expansion of three
key manufacturing enterprises, The I.Be Rowell and Company Agricultural Works (WK 92/12)
at N88 W16444 Main Street expanded production to a regional market, while Nehs! Mill,
then Lepper and Company, remained a custom operation. The Enterprise Roller Mills

(WK 92/15) at N88 W16447 Main Street, founded by Peter Schlafer and John Huebner in
1891, shipped flour to Milwaukee markets. Garwin Mace built up the languishing lime
processing industry with the erection of three large shaft kilns behind the Nehs
kilns. He established the Mace Marble Gloss Lime Works (WK 92/5) in 1891 (now in Lime
Kiln Park)e And Charles James and later Edgar Davis, sons of Cyrus Davis, operated the
Davis Brothers Stone Company, a commercial limestone quarry near the Cyrus Davis house
between 1890 and 1930, A fourth industry having less economic impact, the Wisconsin
Sugar Company, operated successfully during the first decade of the twentieth century.
However, the structure no longer stands.19

Major commercial growth developed along Main ad Appleton, the original business districts
The proposed commercial district primarily represents the 1890 to 1910 expansion at this
locatione Business blocks erected during the 1890s include: +the 1892 Obermann-~Weber
Block (WK 93/6) at N89 W16370 Main Street, the 1896 Fye Building (WK 92/16) at N89 W16384
Mein Street, and the 1896 Stark and Thomas Building (WK 94/27) at N88 W16733-35 Main
Street, Other businesses .and professions include the 1897 Klondike Saloon (WK 92/2)



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB No.
3-82)

1024-0018
Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

The Historic Resources of Menomonee Falls,
Continuation sheet  Waukesha County, Wisconsin Itemnumber 8 Page

at N88 W16567 Main Street, the 1892 Menomonee Hotel (WK 94/21) at N88 W16697 Appleton
Avenue, and the 1899 Dre Christian Rieger Residence and Office (WK 94/24) at
N88 W16749 Main Streeto<0

EBarly twentieth century development proceeded at a similer pace. The commercial district
contains the 1900 Thomas Building (WK 94/23) at N88 W16739-41 Main Street, Cameron
Fraser's 1901 Fraser Building (WK 91/35) containing the Citizen's State Bank at N88
W16723 Appleton Avenue, the 1904 Stark-Hoyt Building (WK 91/34) built by speculator
Edward Stark at N88 W16733 Appleton Avenue, and the 1909 Mace Block (WK 94/19) addition
to the Van Vechten Building at N88 W16665 Main Street which housed the MsA. Schmoyer

- Companye?! These structures forming much of the commercial district spanned the turn

of the century economic booms

The residential areas also expanded adjacent to the commercial area during these two
decadese Jesse Nehs platted the first subdivision of the original village from hig
farm, then located neaxr the center of Menomonee Falls, in anticipation of this growth
in 1886, It encompassed the area along Grant, Grand, and Cleveland Avenues on the
east side of the Menomonee River. It initially contained the residences of Menomonee
Falls! businessmen and professional mene Constructed in 1899, the limestone Roosevelt
Bridge (WK 92/32) over the Menomonee River joined this residential area with the
business districte The 1915 concrete Main Street Bridge (WK 92/14), which replaced
an earlier wooden bridge, connected the village's central and east sides over the
Menomonee Rivere<<

Three of five residences erected in this period occur in the Nehs addition: the 1886
MeFe Lepper house (WK 94/36) at N88 W16596 Main Street, the 1890-91 Garwin Ae Mace house
(WK 91/23) at W166 N8941 Grand Avenue, and the 1893 Albert Baer house (WK 91/17) at
W166 N8990 Grand Avenue, The 1894 Elizabeth Hoos house (WK 92/26) at W164 N9010=12
Water Street was located in an earlier residential area. MeF. Lepper, with Simon
Schlafer, purchased the Nehs Mill in 1883, Garwin Mace erected three large kilns to
place lime processing on a commercial footing in the village. He also financed the
addition to the Van Vechten Block in 1909, Albert Baer ran a major general merchantile
business, founded the Black Hawk Holsery Mill, and filled several civic positionse

The fifth residence, the 1893 Frank Koehler house (WK 94/15) at N88 W6623 Appleton
Avenue was the residence of a wagon maker with his shop adjacent to his dwelling. He
survived rising competition by retailing buggies and agricultural implements.23 These
structures then in part represent the first significant physical residential expansion
in Menomonee Falls in this second period and the achievements of some of the village's
leading businessmen,
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The second period of development in Menomonee Falls between 1890 and 1910 left extensive
physical documentations These structures represent a long period of commercial, business,
and residential expangion following the arrival of the railroad and the incorporation

of the village, These two events are likely an outgrowth of more regional trends pro-
viding the general financial and marketing base for such developmente

The third period of development, primarily during the 1920s, witnessed additional
commercial and residential expansion as well as significant contribubions to the social
welfare of the citizense It occurred during and following the construction of Highway
15 between 1919 and 1927 through Menomonee Fallg., Stretching between the Illinois=
Wisconsin border and Green Bay, it was then the longest concrete road in the state and
brought considerable automobile traffic to the village.c4

The growth of a number of automobile and tourist-related services and businesses responded
to growing mobility. The businesses appeared along Appleton Avenue and Main Street, an
expansion of the original Four Corners business districte These businesses include:

the 1919 Auto Sales Company Buick Garage (WK 94/13) at N88 W 16414 Appleton Avenue, the
1921 Mueller's Cafe Building (WK 91/22) at N88 W16718 Apgleton Avenue, and the 1920

Hille Building (WK 91/33) at N88 W16712 Appleton Avenue.<? As mobility increased and
industry continued to concentrate in large metropolitan areas, Menomonee Falls lost

much of its industrial base and remained a commercial center serving its local hinter-
landse

Residential expansion after 1920 occurred primarily east of the Menomonee River, as it
had previouslye. For example, Kenwood Boulevard, the location of the 1932 Herbert
Hoeltz house (WK 94/2) at W87 W15740 Kenwood Boulevard, was platted in 1929, Addition~
ally, the 1924 Leroy Henze house (WK 93/22), residence of the Citizen's State Bank
president, at N89 W5781 Main Street represents an area of residential development in
this periods<0

The period from 1920 into the 1930s algso witnessed the construction of several struc~
tures which provided a higher level of social services to the communitye The 1920
Lincoln School (WK 94/28) at N88 W16913 Main Street followed an architectural design
expressing its new functionse The 1929-1930 Menomonee Falls Municipal Building

(WK 94/14) at N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue housed numerous village social services.

The 1930 Menomonee Falls Country Club (WK 95/27) at N'73 W13430 and the 1938 Village
Park Bandstand (WK 94/17) in the Village Park on Garfield Drive remain as examples of
contemporary community planning and entertainment facilities. The bandstand served

as a focal point of the Garfield Drive Park which was developed through Works Progress
Administration funding.?’
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Thus, the period of expansion in the 1920s experienced commercial and residential
growth and a higher level of social service provided by private and local and federal
government support following the construction of Highway 15 But as a result of the
same developmental trends, Menomonee Falls began to lose its industry to larger
metropolitan areas and to serve as a bedroom community for Milwaukee.

Menomonee Falls experienced three periods of extended growthe The period between 1850
and the 1880s was characterized by its steady commercisl development as a trade and
milling center supported primarily by farmers within the trading radius. By 1880,
Menomonee Falls emerged as an important local commercisl and manufacturing center.

With the arrivel of the railroad in 1890, the village underwent rapid commercial, indus-
trial, and residential growth, gaining regional importance as a manufacturing center.
Several larger industries served an extra~local market, With the construction of
Highway 15 between 1919 and 1927, Menomonee Falls again expanded the commercial and
residential base with accompanying social services. However, its industrial base
decreased and it graduslly became & bedroom community for Milwaukee., Although represent-
ing a11 three periods, many of the buildings in the proposed Multiple Resource Nomin-
ation were constructed during its period of most extended physical growth between

Criteria Considerations:

The Multiple Resource Nomination contains several church-related properties including
the St. Mary Catholic Church, St. Anthony's Catholic Church, and St. James' Church.
These significant local resources meet criteria consideration exception A as
religious properties deriving their primiary significance from the area of architecture
as representative examples of particular styles and/or methods of construction. In
addition several of the properties add significantly to our knowledge of the

ethnic settlement history.of the Menomonee Falls area.

Resources TIncluded in the Nomination

The types of structures nominated are varied and offer an excellent cross section of
the village's higtoric resources. Among the 23 individual sites (this does not
include the two sites already listed on the NRHP), - 1 farmstead district and one
commercial / industrial district composed of 29 resources ; 23 are nominated for
their architectural significance (this does not include one architecturally signif-
icant site already listed)s, Seven sites are nominated also for historical
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significance. Included in the individusl sites are 17 residential buildings (does
not include one farmhouse in a district or one site already listed), three churches,
three public and civic buildings, one school and one social structure.

The historic commercial and industrial district, as mentioned above, encompassing 29
resources, includes commercial resources of which 22 are contributing buildings,

one contributing industrial building, one arched concrete bridge, and one non-
contributing restored concrete mill pond dam, This historic district includes the
historic heart of the early industrial and commercial district in the original Village
of Menomonee Falls., The two historic districts mentioned above are discussed in de~
tail on the District Survey Forms, including general descriptions and boundary justi-~
fications.

Because of the loss of early industrial sites and early civic or public sites, the
emphasis in the nomination is on regidential structures augmented by commercial prop-
erties in the Main Street commercial district. Three churches, two of which have
cemeteries that are integral to the site from the early settlement period, were nomin-
ated for architectural merit, Also historically significant, the two churches, built by
an immigrant congregation, were nominated because Ste. James served as the focal point for
the Irish Lannon Springs community and St Anthony's served a similar role for the

German community at Fussville. Several individually eligible houges and one house

on a historic farmstead are associated with the long agricultural heritage of the
Menomonee Falls area., These represent locations formerly rural in nature, but which

are now within the expanded boundaries of the present municipalityof the Village of
Menomonee Falls. They include one site already listed in the National Register:

The Miller-Davidson house at N96 W15791 County Line Road (NRHP, 1973), as well as the
Cyrus Davis farmhouses at W204 N7776 Lannon Road and W204 N7818 Lannon Road (WK 95/
16-95), the Johenn Zimmer farmhouse at W156 N9390 Pilgrim Road (uWk 95/3), the Michael
Wick farmhouse at N72 W13449 Good Hope Road (WK 96/18), and the Thomas Camp farmhouse

at WR204 N8151 Lannon Road (HK95/14). The Nicholas Friederich farmhouse at N96 W15009
County Line Road (WK 95/4), located on a historic farmstesd,is included for its historic &
architectural significance, Only the Camps the Frederich and the Wick properties

have retained related farm buildings on the site. The residential properties in-
cluded in the nomination reflect the Menomonee Falls population as well as the range

of architectural styles in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. Generally built in
a vernacular interpretation, the buildings range from mid-19th century Greek Revival sty-
led houses such as the Hoos-Rowell house at W164 N8953 Water Street (WK92/19) to later
19th century Queen Anne influenced houses, including the more elaborate Garwin Mace at
W166 N8941 Grand Avenue (WK 91/25) as well as the more modest cottage built by Albert
at W166 N8990 Grand Avenuw (WK 91/17). Historic revival styles built in the early

20th century in the newly developed areas east of the Menomonee River, such as the
Mediterranean styled Leroy Ae Henze house at N89 W15781 Main Street (WK 93/22), com—
plete the architectural and historic representation of the village. The Main Street
Historic District offers great variety of architectural styles and historic uses repre-
sentative of Menomonee Falls commercisl and industrial development.
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The 7 sites recognized for their historical importance concentrate on the commercial,
government, and industrial aspect of Menomonee Falls history. The only remaining
historic industrial site retaining its integrity is the Enterprise Roller Mill at
N88 W16447 Main Street (WK 92/15)s Several houses such as the house at N88 W16596
Main Street (WK 94/36) built for M.F. Lepper, a partner in the Menomonee Falls
Roller Mill (mot extant),

are sssociated with the history of industry and
commerce, City Hall at N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/14) represents the history
of government in the Village of Menomonee Falls while Lincoln School at N88 W16913
Main Street (WK 94/28) is included for its association with the education of the
citizens of the village.

Planning, Preservation, and Restoration Activities

The historic preservation project which includes the reconnaissance and the intensive
surveys of Menomonee Falls historic resources and this multiple resource nomination
was initiated by the staff of the Village of Menomonee Falls' Department of Community
Development in order to inventory, document, and nominate to the National Register of
Historic Places the community's historically and architecturally significant prop-
ertiess The Village of Menomonee Falls applied for and received an Historic
Preservation Matching Grant-In-Aid (1985) from the Historic Preservation Division

of the State Historical Society of Wisconsin. This provided the funds for conducting
the 1985 intensive survey of Menomonee Falls'! historic resourcess. Included in the
historic preservation project is the presentation of a proposed local historic preser—
vation ordinance and the creation ofan educationalslide/tape programs

Concurrent with the intensive survey of the historic resources in Menomonee Falls,
the Greater Menomonee Falls Committee is conducting an on~-going study with the
objective of providing a village=-wide plan for improvement of the communitye The
1985 Historic Resources Survey Report and the 1986 Intensive Survey Report will be
the basis for planning in regard to historic preservation and rehabilitation. To
facilitate the official recognition of properties and heighten public awareness, the
entire intensive survey, including the report, intensive survey forms, and photo-
graphs, will be on file at the Menomonee Falls Department of Community Development
and a copy of the Intensive Survey Report will be placed in the Menomonee Falls
Public ILibrary as wells As a result of the identification of the village's historic
resources, particularly in the Main Street Historic District, the Village of
Menomonee Falls will encourage utilization of the financial and tax benefits avail-
able through historic preservation programs for rehabilitation of historic structures.

The proposed ordinance and the survey recommendations will assist the village to create
a comprehensive plan that specificallyagddresses the issue of how to preserve what
remains in Menomonee Fallse The city should also embark on a program of recogni-

tion of restoration projects around the village, thus strengthening the residents!
pride in their neighborhoods and their communitye. The final phase, the slide/tape
program, is an educational tool that the village and others can use to introduce and
describe higtoric preservation in the Village of Menomonee Falls. :
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Significance: Agriculture

The eight farmhouses and farmstead included in the multiple resource nomination -
remain as examples of hinterland farms served by the developing trading and milling
center of Menomonee Fallge Farmers brought their wheat to the Nehs Mill and utili-
zed the village's commercial servicese The I.B, Rowell and Company Agricultural
Works, established in 1868, likely provided implements to area farmers. The farmers
also illustrated significant agricultural trends occurring in southeast Wisconsine
From settlement into the 1870s, farmers principally raised wheat ag a cash crop as
well as supporting subsidiary cropse The Yankee and English farmers generally shifted
to dalrying and other livestock, primarily sheep, in the 1860s and 1870s. Those of
German extraction also modified their farm profile, but somewhat later, beginning in
the 1870s and often maintained their wheat production as well.

While the rural sites and farmsteads identified do provide a partial representation
of Menomonee Falls' significant early agricultural base, only one resource — the
Friederich Farmstead Historic District , N96 W15009 County Line Road - was deter-
mined to have retained sufficient integrity to enable to significantly represent

the Agricultural history theme for purposes of the National Register. The Thomas
Camp Farm, Johann Zimmer Farmhouse, Cyrus Davis and Davis Brothers Houses, the
Andrew Barnes farmhouse and the Michael Wick farmhouse are clearly all representative
of local rural building types and are being so nominated under criteria C, but none
lends sufficient comprehensive insight into local agricultural traditions to merit
individual listing in the National Register at this time.

Potential . Archaeology.

Although no known prehigtoric sites occur within the Village of Menomonee Falls, no
comprehensive - survey existse. One potential but untested historic archaeclogical
site, the Nens Kiln Site within the ILime Kiln Park, is noteds Other possible indus=-
trial sites have probably suffered considerable destruction, but this assumption
remains unverified.

Significance: Architecture

The architectural resources of Menomonee Falls are an assemblage of significant local
examples of structures representative of the periods, types and methods of construc—
tion in the community from the 1850s to the 19308, Prevalent national architectural
styles influenced the mostly vernacular architecture of Menomonee Falls, ranging
from the mid-19th century Greek Revival style popular during its settlement period
through the 20th century early Modern style and period revival stylese

Employing limestone usually quarried near the building site, theegpliest structures
in the Village were influenced by the Greek Revival style., Although also built of
wood, the most notable examples of the style are stone farmhouses such as the

Cyrus Davis farmhouse, W204 N7776 Lannon Pad (WK 95/17), the Thomas Camp farmhouse,



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82)

Expires 10-31-§7

United States Department of the Interior 5 7
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
inventory—Nomination Form

The Historic Resources of Menomonee Falls,
Continuation sheet Waukesha County, Wisconsintem number 8 Page 10

W204 N&151 Lannon Pad (WK 95/14), the Nicholas Friederich farmhouse, N96 15009
County Line Road (WK 95/4), the Johann Zimmer farmhouse, W156 N9390 Pllgrlg Road
(WK 95/3), and the Miller-Davidson house (NRHP, 1973), N96 W15791 County Line
Roade Local limestone was ‘also used for the more elaborate, picturesque styles.pop-
ular during the mid=-19th century, including the Gothic Revival St. James Catholic
Church, WR20 N6588 Main Street (WK 95/31) and the Romanesque Revivel styled Ste
Anthony's Catholic Church, N7/ W13604 Appleton Avenue (WK 95/23)s The mogumen?allty
of design inherent in architecture constructed of simple blocks of stone 1s evident
in the Enterprise Roller Mill, N88 W16447 Main Street (WK 92/15), that has been
preserved as the only substantial example of local stone congtruction ?rOm the late
19th century remaining in the Village of Menomonee Falls. Beginning with the turn of
the century, the larger buildings, such as Ste Mary's Catholic Church, N89 W16297
Cleveland Avenue (WK 94/9), the Fraser Block, N88 W16723-25 Appleton Avenue (WK 91/35),
and the City Hall, N88 W16631 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/14) were copst?ucted nore
economically of bricke. Many of the nominated commercial buildings were con-—
structed during Menomonee Falls! second boom period between 1890 and 1910, 1nc}ud1ng
13 - located in the Main Street Historic District. Exhibiting a variety of 1nflgen—
ces such as the Queen Anne Revival style and the Romanesque Revival style popular in
the late 19th and early 20th century, these structures are two-story creme brlck.or
freme structures generally built in a vernacular manners Representative commercial
gtructures in the district of the third period of development in the 1920s and 1930s
show the influence of the early modern periode

However, the residential architecture from the same period, 1920-1930 as well as from
the earlier late 19th and early 20th century period, consistently shows the community!s
preference for traditional historic styled architecture for their dwellings., Nominated
historic revival residential architecture includes the Colonial/Neo~classic Revival
styled John Pratt house, N88 W5634 Park Boulevard (WK 93/25), the Mediterranean Reviv-
al Leroy Henze house, N89 W15781 Main Street (WK 93/22), and the French Eclectic styled
Herbert Hoeltze house, N87 W15714 Kenwood Boulevard (WK 94/2).

Although very few examples of public or civic architecture remain, the early modern
influenced Lincoln School, N88 W16913 Main Street (WK 94/28) and the Mediterranean styled
City Hall, N88W1H631 Appleton Avenue (WK 94/14) ‘demonstrate Menomonee Falls was not
bound by the early 20th century tradition of Neo-classical or Beaux-Arts styled public
buildings. Early industry in Menomonee Falls has left few representatives. The
Enterprise Roller Mill, N88 W16447 Main Street (WK 92/15) and the Rowell and Company
Agricultural Works warehouse, N88 W16444 Main Street (WK 92/12), both vernacular
structures located in the Main Street Historic District, are the only remaining
industrial structures built during the 19th century in the original industrial cen-
ter located on the banks of the Menomonee River, (The Rowell Company warechouse is

not eligible because of lack of architectural integrity.)

The majority of the houses of the late 19th and early 20th century exhibit very res-
trained architectural character, reflecting both the limitations of the builders and
the limitations of the wealth of the residents. While the buildings included repre-
sent both the best and the best preserved of the structures surveyed in Menomonee

Falls, other less elaborate examples of the style are concentrated particularly around
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the Main Street commercial center. Unfortunately, the vernacular houses, many o?
which were influenced by the Queen Anne style, have suffered unsympathetic
alteration over the years and were not included in the nomination.

Significance: Commerce

Commercial buildings in the Menomonee Falls multiple resource nomination include
business blocks, professional offices and craft-related resources. Few historic
commercial resources exist outside of the Main Street Historic District.

The majority of the nominated buildings associated with the commerce theme are
found in the Main Street Historic District as well and they represent a broad
spectrum of commercial uses and building types., Clearly the Four Corners area
served as the heart of the regional trade center that began to evolve in Menomonee
Falls as early as the 1850s., A large number of the buildings found in the district
represent significant commercial "blocks" having housed an array of firms and
commercial enterprises important to the make-up of the local economy.

Constructed in 1867 and utilized during all three periods of development, the Van
Vechten Block at N88 W16677 Main Street housed several merchantile and later
general merchandise businesses such as those run by Coates And Ostrander, Seabold
and Vellard, Lorenz Rebus, M.A. Schmoyer, and Held and Gumm. Business blocks in
the second period of development between 1890 and 1910 proliforated. The 1892
Obermann Block N89 W16370 Main Street; the 1896 Fye Block N89 W16389 Main Street
with the Stark Brothers General store and Albert Baer's Black Hawk Hoisery Mill;
the 1896 Stark and Thomas Building N88 W16733-35 Main Street with their photography
studio; the 1900 Thomas Building N88 W16739-41 with Hille's jewelry; the 1902
Fraser Block N88 W16723-25 Appleton Avenue with Cameron Fraser's investment
concerns — the Citizen State Bank, the Menomonee Falls News offices, and the
Menomonee Falls Telephone Company; the 1904 Stark-Hoyt Block N88 W16733 Appleton
Avenue with M,A, Schmoyer's clothing store; and the 1909 Mace Block N88 W16672
Main Street addition to the Van Vechten Building, all represent the period. Built
in 1920 during the third expansion phase, the Hille Building, N88 W16712

Appleton Avenue contained Reinhold Hille's jewelry store.

Two residences included in the nomination and nominated under criteria C had direct
ties to important local businessmen. These resources were the Albert Baer and
Garwin Mace houses. In both cases, it was determined that other sites included
within the district or individually nominated better represented their careers and
local significance within the Menomonee Falls community. The F, Koehler House

and office building (N88 W16623 Appleton Avenue), however, does represent a
significant individual element of the commercial history theme at the local level.
In particular it relates to the continuing adjustment required of craftsman and
tradesmen to adapt to the requirements of the changing economic climate of the

late 19th century.
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Commerce (continued)

Other buildings historically housing individual businesses and located within the
boundaries of the identified Main Street District include: the 1897 Klondike Saloon
N89 W16567 Main Street, operated by Nick Goeller; the Menomonee Falls Hotel ,N88
W16697 Appleton Avenue, run by William Minten; the 1907 John Yanicke Meat Market,
and Residence, N89 W16353-55 Main Street; the 1921 Hans Mueller Cafe, N88 W16718
Appleton Avenue; and the 1919 Auto Sales Company Garage at N88 W16414 Main Street.

The professional composition of the commercial sector is primarily represented

by the business blocks. As examples, Dr. George Hoyt located his drugstore in the
Fraser Building. Dr. W.,B, Campbell maintained his physician's office in the Fraser
Block as well. Dr. Siewert opened a dental office in the same building and later
moved to the Hille Building. The Fye Building was occupied by a physician and
surgeon, Dr. G.W. Perrin and eye-ear-and-nose specialists Lyon and Faber. Dr.
Christian Rieger located his veterinarian office in his residence/office building

at N88 W16749 Main Street. The Four Corners served continuosly as the trade and
service center for the larger surrounding region, making available to local residents
all the necessary services within a compact, central location.

The one exception to that was the various craftsmen who often conducted their trades
outside of the central area, on farms, in nearby residential areas, or adjacent to
the central business district. During the expansion periods of the late 19th and
especially the 20th century many of these sites were destroyed. 1In addition village
craftsmen did not always survive the competition created by more specialized
businesses and mass-produced manufactured goods. Few buildings associated with
these Menomonee Falls craftsmen survive. Those who did remain usually diversified
their services and retailed ready-made goods at some point., John Fye may have
located his blacksmith shop adjacent to the Fye Building in the District.

Francis Hoenig and W. Lohn both manufactured and retailed clothing in the Hoenig

and Loan Building, N88 W16495, between 1857 and 1879. Occupying the Adam Ploss shop
and residence, N88 W16475 Main Street, from 1879 to 1910 Ploss diversified his
cabinet-making trade to include building construction, design and window/door
manufacturing. Frank Koehler as noted previously maintained his wainwright shop

near his residence at N88 W16623 Appleton Avenue. The 1893 building being individually

nominated contained an office necessary for retailing mass-produced goods as well
as directing his own crafted workshop.
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Significance: Education

In 1838 the state territorial legislature authorized the establishment of local
schools in Waukesha County. The Town of Menomonee's first public school was begun
by 1843 in a log cabin on the present site of the Knights of Columbus Clubhouse,
W164 N9161 Water Street. Over the next several decades numerous school facilities
were erected in the community to serve the needs of the small but growing community.
Among these sites would be the District #1 School, built in 1867 as a two-story 46 x
36 foot brick ediface on Main Street west of the Four Corners. The 1867 school

(not extant) replaced the original 1851 District #1 school which has since been
moved to a local museum site (loss of integrity) at N96 W15791 County Line Road.

A second resource, the Sunnyside School(N83 W18975 Menomonee Avenue), was completed
in 1875 and also represented the first of the community's substantial brick school
buildings. The Sunnyside %chool, unfortunately, has seen several incompatable
alterations and additions.

In addition to these public facilities, several parochial schools served the village,
among them the St. Anthony's Church School (1870, replaced in 1953); St. Mary's
Church Catholic School (1916, replaced in 1948); St. James Church Catholic School
(1955); Good Shepherd Catholic School (1959); Bethlehem Evangelical Lutheran School
(1962); and Grace Evangelical Lutheran School (1963).

Menomonee Falls' first district secondary school was the Menomonee Falls High School
built in 1895 near the site of an older school. 1In 1919 the High School was destroyed _
by a fire which left one person dead. Bricks and other material salvaged from the
ruins were re-used in the 1920 construction of the Lincoln School (WK94/28) on the

same site, Until the new school opened in 1922, classes were held in the St. Paul's
United Church Guild Hall. The one story brick building typified contemporary school
design concepts: a large auditorium, surrounded by classrooms, above an open gymnasium.
A wing was added in 1951 (non-contributing) to accommodate rapidly increasing
enrollments. By 1968, the school - one of the largest in the state - had an enroll-
ment of almost 2,000 students,

The Lincoln School N88 W16913 Main Street (WK94/28) is included in this nomination
because it significantly represents one of several improved social services created

by the village during the third period of growth in the early 20th century. Today,

the school building remains the best preserved element of the Village of Menomonee

Falls' long history of public sponsored education. All other sites are either destroyed,
moved or significantly altered. The Lincoln School's design and spatial arrangement
paralleled those typical of its era and embodied contemporary educational practices,
specifically emphasizing specialized, practical courses and vocational training.
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Significance: Industry

Menomonee Falls' industrial development closely paralleled its commercial growth.
Among the limited industrial pursuits that found a significant home in the Falls
area included early lumber and grist milling, limestone quarrying and agricultural
implement manufacturing. To no extant, however, was Menomonee Falls ever considered
a major industrial force in'the broader region. All identified sites being nominated
were found significant at the local level.

The Nehs' mill site formed the early nucleus of the trading center by 1851 and re-
volved aroud the saw mill sites of Frederick and Charles Nehs and the c. 1851
gristmill of Jesse Nehs. In the 19th century, lime quarrying and burning for
construction and agricultural use ranked among Wisconsin's primary mineral industries,
and was a dominant force in the economy of Waukesha County. State geologist, Increase
Lapham and other observers of the area during the 1840s repeatedly commented on the
"abundance of excellant lime stone" found there. A quarry owned by Issac Howard was
reportedly in operatioon as early as 1838, and by 1845 Frederick Nehs had built 3
lime kilns near the lower falls of the Menomonee River. (non-extant) Contemporary
with the Nehs kilns was the stone quarrying firm of Davis, Barnes & Co., owners

of the Waukesha Stone Company, based in Waukesha. By 1860 the federal manuscript
census listed the firm as employing 25 males to produce $12,000 worth of quarried
lime and stone and 900 pieces of window and door sills worth $900. Much of the
regions early stone architecture derived its origin from the sites such as this.

The Waukesha Stone Company, as noted in the Cyrus Davis Farmhouse site form (W204
N7776 Lannon Road), operated from c. 1856 to 1871. For the most part the lime
industry floundered prior to the 1890s and the arrival of the railroads. The Nehs
kilns appear to have ceased operation by the 1890s and never realy served more than
an immediate local area. Started in 1890, the Davis Brothers Stone Company (non-
extant) quarried stone from the property formerly associated with the Cyrus Davis
farmhouse. With accessible rail transportation the community's best remaining site
initiated large scale production in 1891 under the direction of Garwin Mace - NRHP
listed Mace Lime Kiln.

Mace's 1890 kiln site, which occupied a leading role in local industrial economics
for several years, served to destroy Charles Nehs' lumber millwhich had previously
occupied the site. The Nehs' family flour mill, however, saw rejuvinated life in
the late 19th cenruty under the ownership of Max Lepper and Simon Schlafer. While
their Menomonee Falls Roller Mill is no linger extant, the Lepper House at N88
W16596 Main Street remains to represent the significant role of Lepper's contributions
to the local industrial heritage. Operated until the 1950s, the Roller Mill was
a central figure in the community's service roll to local and regional farmers.
Simon Schlafer, whose house retains little integrity, left the Lepper partnership
in 1890 to construct a competing mill with local investor John Huebner. Their
coneern known as the Enterprise RollerMill (N88 W16447 Main Street, located in
the Main Street Historic District) would expand service well beyond that of any

previous flour milling effort in the city and would include service to the city of
Milwaukee.
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The Enterprise Mill operated as the village's central industrial base until 1941,
when it was converted to use as a warehouse. During its years of use as a flour
and grist mill the operation served as a symbol of the prosperity of the local
community. Today the site remains the best preserved extant example of Menomonee
Falls' 19th century industrial heritage.

The final industrial operation to have played a somewhat significant role in local
industrial development was the Menomonee Falls Agricultural Works established in
1868. Established by Ira & Gifford Rowell, the firm started as a service operation
to local farmers in the surrounding region. With the arrival of rail service the
firm quickly expanded to a regional operation requiring additional expansion and
growth in the city. The Menomonee Falls News in 1891 named the Rowell manufactory
one of the village's three most important enterprises along with the lime and quarry
business of Mace and the Enterprise Roller Mill. The only remaining element of the
firm is the much altered warehouse building at N88 W16444 Main Street in the Main
Street Historic District.

Nominated as part of this MRA submission then are the best remaining representatives
of Menomonee Falls' limited but locally important industrial past. They include the
substantial Enterprise Mill, the Lepper residence, the Rowell warehouse and the
previously listed Lime Kiln Site.

Significance: Community Planning & Landscape Development

Early community development within the village was generally the result of local
idividuals who platted and subdivided various land holdings to create the commercial
and residential neighborhhods of the community. The first effort to direct
development outside of the Fond du Lac Road corridor was initiated by Jesse Nehs
who in 1850 platted more than fifty lots along not only Fond du Lac road but also
Waukesha Road (now Main Street) to create the area now known as the Four Corners.
Most village development activity remained in the hands of local citizens and in-
vestors throughout the 19th and early 20th century. 5

The only major publically directed planning effort occurred in the 1930s, aided by
Federal relief monies. In 1938 the village initiated plans for the development of
Garfield Drive Village Park, designed by the landscape architecture firm of
Boerner and Boerner of Milwaukee. The park itself has seen various changes over
the years. The Village Park Bandstand on Village Drive(WK94/17) is the focal point
of the landscaping effort and has seen little alteration since its completion as
part of the Works Progress Administration project. In addition to its importance
as an aspect of community planning, the park bandstand represents a village focal
point, a location for formal ce%ebrations and informal get togethers and various
forms of community recreation.
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Significance: Settlement

As noted in the introductory historical materials, in addition to Menomonee Falls
communities in the Town of Menomonee included Lannon Springs and Fussville. The
first permanent settler in the Town of Menomonee is believed to have been Peter
Raferty, an Irish immigrant. His son, Francis, born in 1837, is considered the
first white child born there.” Other irish immigrant families soon followed and
settled mainly in the south-southeastern section of the township. By 1842 these
families had formed the earliest of the three distinct settlements within the town-
ship. Lannon Springs, a crossroads settlement at the present Mill and Town Line
Road intersection, became the center of the Irish-Catholic population. 7

By the 1848, the strongly Catholic local population had completed what was to become
the enduring focal point of their small community, the Gothic Revival St. James
Catholic Church W220 N6570 Town Line Road (WK95/31). St. James as the oldest

extant resource associated with the earliest settlement period of the Lannon Springs
and Town of Menomonee area is clearly a significant representation of the goals

and ideals of the early immigrants to this area. The site speaks not only to

the physical development of the region, but also to the cultural and social coales-
cence of the early pioneering community.

Other early residences in the survey area exist, such as the A. Barnes House (1858),
the Friederich farm (c.1850) and the 1867 St. Anthony Church, but none were felt

to contribute as much to the sense of early regional exploration and settlement

as the St. James ediface. The St. James resource clearly represents the last
remaining resource to be associated with what had once been a thriving small
crossroads community. Railroad construction in the late 19th century destroyed
much of the original Lannon Springs community, leaving the Church to speak of

the early life of this region.

Significance: Government

The first town meeting held within the Menomonee Falls region was held in 1842 inthe
Travellers Home, a public house on Pilgrim Road (non extant). The Town of Menomonee's
first town hall was erected in 1879 on section 16 ending years of conflict over the
location of town meetings. Menomonee Falls' own village hall and fire station was
built in 1895, 3 years after the village voted for formal incorporation. (non-extant)
The 19th century village hall served the commnunity until the 1930s when increasing
size and complexity of city services demanded the construction of a new facility.

Erected in 1929-30, the Menomonee Falls Municipal Building, N88 W16631 Appleton

Avenue (WK94/14), incorporated the village offices, board room, police and fire
departments, public library and jail. The building represents the trend during the

1920s and 30s toward increasing social services particularly called for in a community
expanding its residential base as a bedroom community for the Milwaukee metropolitan
area. It is the best remaining resource associated with local governmental development.4
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